### SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 78,693

SID J. WHITE

DEC 8 1991

CLERK, SUPPLY COURT

By
Chief Deputy Clerk

IN RE: ESTATE OF

CELIA KAHN,

Deceased.

SHARON ZUCKERMAN,

Petitioner,

v.

JACK ALTER, individually,

Respondent.

ON CERTIFIED QUESTION FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, THIRD DISTRICT

IWITIAL BRIEF

STEEL HECTOR & DAVIS
Robert W. Goldman
D. Scott Elliott;
1900 Phillips Point West
777 South Flagler Drive
West Palm Beach, Florida 334
(407) 650-7200

33401-6198

###

#### JURISDICTION

At least for the past 40 years, estate planners have understood that, absent specific legislation to the contrary, will substitutes were invalid unless executed with the formalities of a will. Even after Section 689,075, Florida Statutes, was adopted and changed much of the law set forth in Hanson v. Denckla, 100 So.2d 378 (Fla. 1956), reversed On iurisdictional grounds, 78 S.Ct. 1228 (1958), the execution requirements for Florida trusts in which the settlor was sole trustee remained. Florida lawyers were taught those requirements and cautioned about them by the experts in the field. See, Belcher, "Avoiding Problems Under F.S. 689.075", Real Prop., Probate & Trust Law Sect., Publ. Action Line, (1983) Vol. 10, pg.2; Lowell & Grimsley, Florida Law of Trusts § 11-6 at 168; The Florida Bar, Administration of Trusts in Florida § 2.32, at 51.

In this case, **the** District Court of **Appeal** of Florida, Third District, has undercut Florida law and thrown out the execution requirements for a Florida trust in which the settlor is the sole trustee.

Estate planners in Florida and the general public, who seem to adore this kind of trust, must know the execution requirements that make it valid. For that reason, the appellate court certified this matter to this Court. The question certified by the appellate court, however, is misleading. It provides:

WHETHER PARAGRAPH 689.075(1)(G), FLORIDA STATUTES (1987) CREATES A SINGLE TEST, OR TWO ALTERNATIVE TESTS, FOR THE VALIDITY OF AN INTER VIVOS TRUST EXECUTED ON OR AFTER JULY 1, 1969, WHERE THE SETTLOR IS THE SOLE TRUSTEE?

That question only begs the more important question:

WHAT EXECUTION REQUIREMENTS ARE PROVIDED IN SECTION 689.075(1)(G)? AND: DOES A FLORIDA TRUST IN WHICH THE SETTLOR SERVES AS SOLE TRUSTEE AND WHICH DISTRIBUTES PROPERTY ON THE SETTLOR'S DEATH, SATISFY THE STATUTORY REQUIREMENTS OF SECTION 689.075(1)(G), IF IT IS WITNESSED BY ONLY ONE PERSON, GIVEN THAT WILLS IN FLORIDA MUST BE WITNESSED BY TWO PERSONS?

#### STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

The decedent, Celia Kahn, allegedly created a Declaration of Trust on June 11, 1982 ("trust\*\*). The trust was a revocable inter vivos living trust in which Celia Kahn was the grantor, lifetime trustee and lifetime beneficiary. (R. 272;

R. 264A-264GGG). Paragraph 1 of the trust included a testamentary provision whereby the property included in the trust would be transferred to Jack Alter on Celia Kahn's death. The trust was supposedly signed by Celia Kahn and one witness. Whether Celia Kahn actually signed her name to the trust is a matter in dispute. (R. 272; R. 264A-264GGG).

Among the **assets** of the trust were accounts at Norstar Brokerage Corporation (R. 152-171; R. 264A-264GGG) and 1st Nationwide Bank, (R. 264A-264GGG).

Celia Kahn died testate, leaving the residuary of her probate estate to her nieces Sharon Zuckerman and Beverly Kanter. Sharon Zuckerman and Beverly Kanter filed an action in the probate proceeding alleging fraud, undue influence and, among other

things, the invalidity of the testamentary aspects of Celia Kahn's trust. (R. 107-136). Subsequently Zuckerman and Kanter moved for summary judgment on the validity of the testamentary provisions of the trust. Attached as exhibits to the motion were the trust agreement and an order from the Circuit Court of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit deciding similar issues in another case.

In opposition to the motion for summary judgment, Jack Alter filed an affidavit by John Chepak of Norstar Banking Corporation (R. 152-171) and an affidavit by Jack Alter (R. 177). The affidavit of John Chepak included, among other things, a copy of the trust agreement at issue in the summary judgment proceeding and indicated the account was established in accordance with and under the trust.

At the close of the hearing on the original motion for summary judgment, the court and counsel acknowledged the agreement of counsel that to the extent the trust was a grantor, revocable <a href="inter vivos">inter vivos</a> trust, its testamentary provisions were invalid. (Transcript, dated November 28, 1988 at 23; R. 277). The court entered a partial summary judgment on that point (R. 180). The court reserved Alter's right to allege and prove that the June 11, 1982 writing was evidence of some other kind of trust. (R. 180).

Several months later, after more time for discovery elapsed, Zuckerman and Kanter moved for final summary judgment and included affidavits from Norstar and 1st Nationwide; excerpts from Dacey, On Trusts and a letter from Jack Alter, all of which were filed to support the argument that the trust was a

grantor, revocable, <u>inter vivos</u>, living trust and that Norstar and 1st Nationwide accounts were owned by the trust (R. 263-264GGG).

Jack Alter filed his own affidavit in opposition to the motion for summary judgment, which included alleged oral conversations between Jack Alter and the decedent, Celia Kahn.

a

a

The trial court heard argument of counsel (Transcript, dated July 27, 1989; R. 277) and granted the motion for summary judgment. (R. 196-197). The District Court of Appeal, Third District, reversed the trial court by opinion dated June 25, 1991, (R. 278-286). In response to Petitioner's Motion for Rehearing, the Third District entered a second opinion on September 17, 1991 and certified the issue to be of great public importance. (R. 288-298).

#### HISTORY OF APPLICABLE LAW

In order to decide this case, the Court will have to construe Section 689.075, Florida Statutes. The history leading up to the enactment of the statute and the sequence of amendments resulting in the present version of Section 689.075 are crucial to this Court's construction of the statute.

In the Landmark case of <u>Hanson v. Denckla</u>, 100 So.2d **378** (Fla. 1956), reversed solely on jurisdictional grounds, **357 U.S. 235, 78** S.Ct. **1228 (1958)**, this Court invalidated a revocable inter vivos trust as a result of the cumulative effect of the

settlor's reservation of the control over the trust property and the power to dispose of it on her death. Id. at 383-4. The Court found the trust to be illusory and an attempted testamentary disposition, which had only one subscribing witness and was, therefore, invalid. Id. at 385. The Court based its holding to a large extent on the Restatement of Trusts, § 56. Id. at 384.

In 1968, the District Court of Appeal, Second District, in Lane v. Palmer First National Bank and Trust Company of Sarasota, 213 So.2d 301, distinguished the facts of the case before it from those in Hanson and upheld the validity of the testamentary aspects of a revocable inter vivos trust. In Lane Court pointed out that the Restatement of Trusts, relied upon by the Court in Hanson, had been rewritten in 1959, reversing its original position. Id. at 303.

a

To clear **up** the uncertainty surrounding revocable living trusts in Florida after <u>Lane</u>, in 1969, the Florida Legislature adopted Chapter 69-192, Laws **of** Florida (§ 689.075, Fla. Stat.). Chapter 69-192 read as follow:

AN ACT relating to declarations of trust; amended chapter 689, Florida Statutes, by adding section 689.075 to the list of powers that may be retained by the settlor of an inter vivos trust, either singly or jointly with another, without affecting its nontestamentary character; providing for retroactive application to trusts executed by persons living on the effective date of this act; providing an effective date.

Be it Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida:

Section 1. Chapter 689, Florida Statutes, is amended by addition Section 689.075 to read:

689.075 Inter vivos trust; powers retained by settlor.

- (1) An otherwise valid trust which has been created by a written instrument shall not be held invalid or an attempted testamentary disposition for any of the following reasons:
- (a) Because the settlor or other person or both possess the power to revoke, amend, alter, or modify the trust in whole or in part;
- (b) Because the settlor or another person or both possess the power to appoint by deed or will the persons and organizations to whom the income shall be paid or the principal distributed;
- (c) Because the settlor or another person or both possess the power to add to, or withdraw from, the trust all or any part of the principal or income at one (1) time or at different times;
- (d) Because the settlor or another person or both possess the power to remove the trustee or trustees and appoint a successor trustee or trustees;
- (e) Because the settlor or another person or both possess the power to control the trustee or trustees in the administration of the trust;
- (f) Because the settlor has retained the right to receive all or part of the income of the trust during his life or for any part thereof;
- (g) Because the settlor is, at the time of the execution of the instrument, or thereafter becomes, sole trustee.
- (2) When the settlor is made sole trustee, the trust instrument must be executed in accordance with the formalities for the execution of wills required at the time of the execution of the trust instrument in the jurisdiction where the trust instrument is executed.
- (3) The fact that any one or more of the powers specified in subsection (1) are in fact exercised once, or more than once, shall not affect the validity of the trust or its nontestamentary character.

Section 2. This act shall became effective on July 1, 1969 and shall be applicable to trusts executed before or after said date by persons who are living on or after said date.

To a large extent, Chapter 69-192 neutralized this Court's decision in <u>Hanson</u> by declaring that a trust which was otherwise valid could not be held to be invalid or a "testamentary disposition" for any of the reasons listed in the statute, An important aspect of <u>Hanson</u>, however, continued and was codified by 69-192 for trusts like the one in this case, in which the settlor is made sole trustee. Under subsection (2), if the settlor was sole trustee, the trust instrument was required to be "executed in accordance with the formalities for execution of wills required at the time of the execution of the trust instrument in the jurisdiction where the trust instrument is executed." Although Chapter 69-192 was generally in line with Restatement (Second) of the Trusts, § 57, they were by no means mirror images of each other. Subsection (2) of 69-162 contained an execution requirement not found in the Restatement, but determined to be necessary by our Legislature.

In 1971, the Legislature became concerned about the validity of trusts executed outside of Florida by persons ultimately dying domiciled in Florida and reworded the provision requiring declarations of trusts to be executed in accordance with the

formalities of will executions.  $^{1/}$  After the 1971 amendment, Section 689.075(1)(g) read as follows:

Section 1. Paragraph (g) of subsection (1) of section 689.075, Florida Statutes, is amended to read:

689.075 Inter vivos trusts; powers retained by settlor.--

(1) An otherwise valid trust which has been created by a written instrument shall not be held invalid or an attempted testamentary disposition for any of the following reasons:

. . .

(g) Because the settlor is, at the time of the execution of the instrument, or thereafter becomes, sole trustee; provided, however, that at the time the trust instrument is executed it is either valid under the laws of the jurisdiction in which it is executed or it is executed in accordance with the formalities for the execution of wills required in such jurisdictions.

Ch. 71-126 § 1, Laws Of Fla.

Subsequently, in 1973, this Court decided <u>Castellano v.</u>

<u>Cosgrove</u>, 280 So.2d 676 (Fla. 1973). In <u>Castellano</u>, this Court held Section 689.075's retroactive application was an unconstitutional impairment of contracts. In addition, the Court determined that Section 689.075 was intended to apply only to real property, not personalty.

In direct response to <u>Castellano</u>, Section 689.075 was once again amended to clarify that it applied, and had always intended to apply, to both personal property and real property. To overcome the constitutional attack, the effective date was

This provision was also moved from subsection (2) to (1)(g).

also modified. Generally, the section remained effective with respect to trusts executed prior to the effective date, but the requirement of execution in accordance with the formalities for the execution of wills was made applicable only to trusts executed after July 1, 1969, the original enactment date. The 1975 legislation provided:

Section 1. Section 689.075, Florida Statutes, 1974 Supplement, is amended to read:

689.075 Inter vivos trusts; powers retained by settlor.--

- (1) A trust which is otherwise valid, including but not limited to a trust the principal of which is composed of real property, intangible personal property, tanaible personal property, the possible expectancy of receiving as a named beneficiary death benefits as described in s.

  733.808, or any combination thereof, and which has been created by a written instrument shall not be held invalid or an attempted testamentary disposition for any one or more of the following reasons:
- (a) Because the settlor or another person or both possess the power to **revoke**, amend, alter, or modify the trust in whole or in part;
- (b) Because the settlor or another person or both possess the power to appoint by deed or will the persons and organizations to whom the income shall be paid or the principal distributed;
- (c) Because the settlor or another person or both possess the power to add to, or withdrawn from, the trust all or any part of the principal or income at one time or at different times;
- (d) Because the settlor or another person or both possess the power to remove the trustee or trustees and appoint a successor trustee or trustees;
- (e) Because the settlor or another person or both possess the power to control the trustee or trustees in the administration of the trust;

- (f) Because the settlor has retained the right to receive all or part of the income of the trust during his life or far any part thereof;
- (g) Because the settlor is, at the time of the execution of the instrument, or thereafter becomes, sole trustee; provided that at **the** time **the** trust instrument is executed it is either valid under the laws of the jurisdiction in which it is executed or it is executed in accordance with the formalities for the execution of wills required in such jurisdiction.
- (4) This section shall be applicable to trusts executed before or after July 1, 1969 by persons who are living on or after said date. However, the requirement of conformity with the formalities for the execution of wills as found in subsection (1)(a) shall not be imposed upon any trust executed prior to July 1, 1969.

Section 2. The amendment of s. 689.075, Florida Statutes, by section 1 of this act is intended to clarify the leaislative intent of s. 689.075 at the time of its original enactment, that s. 689.075 applies to all otherwise valid trusts which are created by written instrument and which are not expressly excluded by the terms of such section, and that no such trust shall be declared invalid for any of the reasons stated in subsections (1) and (3) of such section regardless of whether the trust involves or relates to an interest in real Property.

Ch. 75-74 §§ 1-2, Laws of Fla.

Section 689.075 has not been amended since 1975.

Many of Florida's trust law experts have written commentary on Section 689,075 generally, as well as specifically on what they opine to be the continued requirement of execution of certain trusts in accordance with the formalities for execution of wills. **See** Belcher, William S., "Avoiding Problems Under F.S. 689.075", Real Prop., Probate & Trust Law, Sect., Publ.

Action Line, (1983) Vol. 10, pg. 2; Lowell & Grimsley, Florida

Law of Trusts, § 11-6; Hart, "Inter Vivos Trust: Unanticipated

Connotations," 46 Fla. R.J. 16 (1972); Emanuel, "Revocable

Trusts - Do They Solve Or Create Problems?," 46 Fla. B.J. 78

(1972); Roth "Rebirth of the Revocable Trust in Florida," 44

Fla. B.J. 82 (1970).

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

a

а

a

There were two summary judgment hearings in his case. During the first hearing, Jack Alter agreed that provisions of a grantor trust, in which the settlor was the sole trustee, that attempt to distribute trust property upon the settlor's death were invalid if the trust was not executed by two witnesses, as with wills. An order was prepared and signed accordingly. During the second summary judgment hearing we proved that the brokerage and bank accounts at issue were part of the decedent's grantor trust in which she was settlor and sole trustee and which attempted to distribute trust assets upon her death. Accordingly, summary judgment was entered. On the basis of Alter's agreement and the order accordingly entered after the first summary judgment hearing, the second summary judgment should have been affirmed.

Further, Section 687.075(1)(g) is a specific deviation from the Restatement and the Restatement (Second). That statutory provision in effect follows a portion of this Court's decision in Hanson v. Denckla requiring execution of certain trusts with the formalities of a will. Contrary to the appellate court's opinion

below, from the initial adoption of 689.075 in 1969 to this date, after several amendments to the statute, <u>Restatement (Second) of Trusts</u>, § 57, has never been fully adopted by the Legislature, which preferred to continue to require execution of trusts with the formalities of wills in certain instances.

Section 689.075(1)(g) was amended to protect settlors of trusts, executed in other states and countries in accordance with foreign laws, from dying intestate, just because the settlor eventually moved to Florida and Florida law then controlled.

Neither Section 689.075, nor any statute since its adoption, ever changed the requirement that Florida trusts be executed in accordance with the formalities of wills, if, as here, the settlor is the sole trustee and the trust distributes property upon the death of the settlor. There is nothing at all peculiar about our Legislature telling Floridians how they will execute their trusts, while at the same time being tolerant of the laws of other jurisdictions. See, e.g., §732.502(2), Fla. Stat.

#### ARGUMENT

I. JACK ALTER AGREED BELOW THAT A FLORIDA GRANTOR TRUST IN WHICH THE SETTLOR WAS THE SOLE TRUSTEE WAS INVALID FOR PURPOSES OF MAKING A TESTAMENTARY DISPOSITION UNLESS THE TRUST WAS EXECUTED WITH THE FORMALITIES FOR EXECUTION OF WILLS-

The appellate court below completely left out of its opinion that Jack Alter admitted one witness' signature was insufficient in Florida to validate the post-death provisions of Celia Kahn's June 11, 1982 Trust. Indeed, at the initial summary judgment hearing, Jack Alter had two attorneys present

to represent him, Alan Kluger, Esquire, and Alan Cohn, Esquire, who represents Alter, as Personal Representative of the Estate of Celia Kahn. On Page 23 of the November 28, 1988 hearing transcript, the following occurs, beginning at line 9:

Mr. Cohn:

la

I think they both have common ground. Let me just ask one question. Do you both agree there can be no written trust, Grantor trust, that makes an attempted testamentary disposition that's not executed in accordance with the formalities?

The Court:

Everybody agrees with that?

Mr. Cohn:

You both agree with that?

Mr. Goldman:

Yes.

The Court:

We all agree, including me. We all agree with that.

Mr. Kluger:

Yes.

Alter was only concerned with being able to **come** back into Court and argue that the Norstar Account was actually held in an oral trust or a Totten trust, rather than Celia Kahn's June 11, 1982 Living Trust. On Page 24 of the same transcript, lines 12-14, Alan Kluger, Esquire, on behalf of Alter, when asked again if he agreed, stated:

Mr. Kluger:

I need to see it (the proposed Order) in writing. As long as I'm not prejudiced to argue an oral trust and to argue a Totten trust of this account.

That was the stipulation of the parties and the appellate court erroneously lost sight of it. <u>See Markow v, Alcock</u>, 356 F.2d 194, 198 (5th Cir. 1966) (generally, parties entering

into stipulations during the course of proceedings are estopped from subsequently taking positions inconsistent with the stipulation); <u>Hill v. Winn-Dixie Stores</u>, 721 F.Supp. 1226, 1232 (M.D.Fla. 1989) (where counsel stipulated to amount of damages, damage amount agreed to would be upheld, even if erroneous, because of stipulation).

II. THE LEGISLATIVE HISTORY OF SECTION 689.075 CLEARLY INDICATES THAT A TRUST EXECUTED IN FLORIDA IN WHICH THE SETTLOR SERVES AS SOLE TRUSTEE MUST BE EXECUTED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE FORMALITIES FOR EXECUTION OF WILLS.

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