Od FILED
SID J. WHITE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FEB 3 1992

CASE NO. 78,693

CLERK, SUPREME COURT,
By
Chief/Peputy Glerk

SHARON ZUCKERMAN,

Petitioner,

VS.

JACK ALTER, individually and as trustee,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF A CERTIFIED QUESTION FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, THIRD DISTRICT

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

PODHURST, ORSECK, JOSEFSBERG, EATON, MEADOW, OLIN & PERWIN, P.A. 25 West Flagler Street, Suite 800 Miami, Florida 33130 (305) 358-2800

Attorneys for Respondent

By: JOEL D. EATON Fla. Bar No. 203513

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

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In an introductory portion of our argument, we will explain that Mr. Alter's affidavit was unnecessary, because Ms. Kahn's intent is expressed on the face of the Declaration of Trust itself. For good measure, however, we will demonstrate that the affidavit was erroneously stricken. Once the residuary beneficiaries placed the Declaration of Trust (as well as all of Norstar's backup documents and an affidavit explaining the 1st Nationwide account) in evidence, the Deadman's Statute was waived. In any event, Ms. Kahn's intent is not really the issue; the issue is whether the obviously upside-down result in this case, which was exactly contrary to Ms. Kahn's uncontroverted and express intent, was mandated by law because of the simple absence of a second witness's signature on the trust instrument. It will be our position that it was not.

A The trial court erred in summarily invalidating the account at 1st Nationwide Bank for three very simple reasons. First, there was no claim in the petition challenging the

validity of this account, and it is axiomatic that **summary** judgment cannot be granted on an unpled claim. Second, the trust agreement giving rise to the account was not placed in the record, **so** the residuary beneficiaries could not carry their burden of proving it invalid for lack of a signature. Third, as a matter of substantive law, the trust account was a valid Totten Trust under Florida law, to which the Statute of Wills simply had no application.

B. The trial court also erred in summarily invalidating the Norstar account. As we shall explain in regrettable detail, Florida law •• as it has developed over the last 50 years and as it was codified by various legislative enactments between 1969 and 1975 •• parallels the principles presently stated in §§56 and 57 of the Restatement (Second) of Trusts (1957). Reduced to its essentials, §56 states that, if the settlor has failed to create a valid trust by passing a present interest to the beneficiary during her lifetime, then the disposition is testamentary and will be valid only if the instrument complies with the Statute of Wills. This is essentially Ms. Zuckerman's position in the instant case. On the other hand, §57 provides that, if the settlor has created a valid trust during her lifetime by passing a present interest (a "contingent equitable interest in remainder") to the beneficiary during her lifetime, then the disposition is not testamentary and the Statute of Wills is therefore inapplicable. Because Ms, Kahn's Declaration of Trust clearly created a present beneficial interest in Mr. Alter, the trust in issue here falls under §57, rather than §56.

If there had been no statutory developments between 1969 and 1975, the Florida decisional law, which presently follows §57, would clearly require the conclusion that the Declaration of Trust created a valid *inter* vivos trust which did not require the signature of a second witness. Unfortunately, when the legislature first attempted to incorporate §57 of the Restatement into the statutory law of Florida in 1969, it included a provision contrary to §57 which required that all trusts in which the settlor is the sole trustee must comply with the Statute of Wills. Shortly thereafter, however, it amended this provision to make it consistent with §57, by providing that *inter* vivos trusts in which the settlor is the sole trustee

are not invalid for that reason alone, if the trust is otherwise valid under the law or if it complies with the Statute of Wills. It will be our position that this amendment must be given effect; that it must mean something different than compliance with the Statute of Wills; and that the only logical construction of the amendment is that it was meant to conform Florida law to §\$56 and 57, as the courts had previously developed the common law. If we are correct about that, then Ms. Kahn's Declaration of Trust was a valid inter vivos trust, not a testamentary disposition requiring compliance with the Statute of Wills—and the district court correctly held that the trial court erred in concluding otherwise.

IV. ARGUMENT

By way of introduction, and to place the two issues on appeal in proper perspective, it is worth reiterating briefly what is not in issue here. The authenticity of the June 11, 1982, Declaration of Trust is not in issue here. Ms. Kahn's intent is also not in issue here, because it is expressed on the face of the Declaration of Trust. Ms. Kahn intended to (and did) place the assets in her brokerage account in trust for Mr. Alter approximately four years before she died, reserving to herself only the right to use the income from that account, with the assets in the account to remain Mr. Alter's upon her death. On the record made below, it is simply indisputable that Ms. Kahn wanted those trust assets to pass to Mr. Alter when she died, and not to Ms. Zuckerman. The same is obviously true with respect to the 1st Nationwide account. The only reason the trial court ordered those assets distributed contrary to Ms. Kahn's express wishes was because the Declaration of Trust was witnessed by one signature rather than two, and the very narrow question presented here is therefore simply this: whether that obviously upside-down result, which was exactly contrary to Ms. Kahn's express wishes, was mandated by law because of the simple absence of that second signature. We will demonstrate in the argument which follows that it was not.

Since we are on the introductory subject of **Ms.** Kahn's intent, this is as good a place as any to discuss the propriety of the trial court's order striking Mr. Alter's affidavit. **And**,

because that ruling has no material bearing on the legal issues presented here, there is no need for us to make it the subject of a separate issue on appeal. It is enough that the Court understand at this point that the affidavit was essentially superfluous. All that it contained was an elaboration upon Ms. Kahn's intent. That intent was independently expressed on the face of the Declaration of Trust and the two accounts, however, and it was not controverted in any way by the other evidentiary material submitted in support of the motions for summary judgment, so striking the affidavit's evidence of Ms. Kahn's intent accomplished nothing. Ms. Kahn's (uncontroverted) intent is still spread all over the face of the very instruments upon which the motions for summary judgment were based, and we therefore take it that her intent is unequivocally established by the record here, whether Mr. Alter's affidavit is considered a part of it or not. If the provided in the string is unequivocally established by the record here, whether Mr. Alter's

And even if the affidavit were necessary to support our position here, it is a simple matter to demonstrate that it was improperly stricken. In the first place, only a portion of the affidavit related conversations with the decedent, so the remaining portions obviously could not be legitimately stricken. More importantly, the dispute here is not between Ms. Kahn's estate and Mr. Alter; it is between a niece and a nephew of the decedent, both of whom are both "interested" and "protected" persons under the Deadman's Statute, 890.602, Fla. Stat. (1987). In that circumstance, the statute simply does not apply to prohibit Mr. Alter from testifying to conversations with the decedent. 9

But that aspect of the Deadman's Statute is complicated enough that the Court deserves **a** simpler solution to the problem if one can be found (especially since the affidavit

See Knauer v. Barnett, 360 So.2d 399, 405 (Fla. 1978) ("[U]nless the trust instrument is ambiguous, the intent of the settlor must be ascertained from that which lies within the four corners of the instrument itself, and no extrinsic evidence of the settlor's intent is admissible); Robbins v. Hunyady, 498 So.2d 955 (Fla. 2nd DCA), review denied, 500 So.2d 544 (Fla. 1986) (same).

⁵ See, e. g., Barber v. Barber, 128 Fla. 645, 175 So. 713 (1937); Matthews v. Hines, 444 F. Supp. 1201 (M.D. Fla. 1978). See generally, Ehrhardt, Florida Evidence, 5602.1 (2nd Ed. 1984).

Is immaterial to the issues on appeal). That simpler solution can be found in *Briscoe v. Florida National Bank of Miami*, 394 So.2d 492 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1981), which is simply indistinguishable from the instant case. In that case, during his lifetime, Mr. Koubek opened a joint account with right of survivorship, naming Mr. Briscoe as co-owner. The account was evidenced by a letter of authorization and a joint signatory card. After his death, Mr. Koubek's personal representatives sought to recover the assets in the account for the estate. They placed both the letter of authorization and the joint signataxy card in evidence at trial, and then convinced the trial court that the Deadman's Statute prohibited Mr. Briscoe from testifying to Mr. Koubek's intent in setting up the account.

The Third District held that ruling to be error:

participation in the decedent's affairs was improperly excluded as being violative of the deadman's statute, . . . Clearly, the introduction of the letter of authorization and the joint signatory card, creating the joint account with right of survivorship, constituted a waiver of the deadman's statute. Sessions v. Summers, 177 So.2d 720 (Fla. 1st DCA 1965); see also Josephson v. Kunhner, 139 So.2d 440, 443 (Fla. 1st DCA 1962) (setting forth the reasons for the waiver rule). Once there was a waiver of the statute, it constituted a waiver for all purposes. Bordacs v. Kimmel, 139 So.2d 506 (Fla. 3d DCA 1962). Consequently, Briscoe's testimony, if otherwise admissible, was erroneously excluded under the deadman's statute.

394 So.2d at 493-94.

In the instant case, the residuary beneficiaries placed the June 11,1982, Declaration of Trust (as well as all of Norstar's backup documents and an affidavit explaining the 1st Nationwide account) in evidence. If *Briscoe* is the law, then the Deadman's Statute was clearly waived by that act. Mr. Alter's affidavit explaining the intent of his aunt in setting up the Norstar account for his benefit was therefore admissible, and the trial court erred in

⁴ Cf. Smith v. Silberman, 557 So.2d 78 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1990) (once estate called witness and established existence of conversation, Deadman's Statute was waived and details of conversation should not have been excluded). See generally, Ehrhardt, supra note 5.

striking it. Although we continue to believe that the affidavit was immaterial to the narrow issues on appeal, if the **Court** feels otherwise, it is free to consider the affidavit as improperly stricken -- and therefore a legitimate part of the record on appeal. And with that collateral matter behind us, we turn to the issues on appeal.

A. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DETERMINING THAT MS. KAHN'S TRUST ACCOUNT AT 1ST NATION-WIDE BANK WAS INVALID AS A MA'ITER OF LAW, AND THAT ITS ASSETS THEREFORE BELONG, NOT TO THE DESIGNATED BENEFICIARY OF THE TRUST ACCOUNT, BUT TO THE RESIDUARY BENEFICIARIES OF HER ESTATE.

Although this issue was not certified to the Court, Ms. Zuckerman has argued it. We therefore have no choice but to respond to it. And of the two trust accounts in issue here, the trial court's error in summarily invalidating the account at 1st Nationwide Bank is the easiest to demonstrate, so we will discuss it first. There are three very simple reasons why this ruling was erroneous -- two procedural and one substantive: (1) there was no claim in the petition challenging the validity of this account; (2) the trust agreement giving rise to the account was not in the record, so the residuary beneficiaries could not carry their burden of proving it invalid for lack of a signature; and (3) in any event, the trust account was a valid Totten Trust under Florida law. We will elaborate upon these three positions in that order.

1. The absence of a claim in the petition.

First, we remind the Court that the petition filed by the residuary beneficiaries challenged only the validity of the Norstar account; the 1st Nationwide account is not mentioned in it in any way. The first time the 1st Natianwide account was ever mentioned in the litigation was in the residuary beneficiaries' second motion for summary judgment. Given those two procedural facts, it is simply indisputable that the trial court erred in

The opening gambit in the argument section of Ms. Zuckerman's brief is a contention that Mr. Alter's counsel actually stipulated that the trusts in issue here were invalid. We have previously demonstrated the error of that contention in our restatement of the case and facts (at pages **5-8**, supra), so we will devote no separate argument to the contention here.

declaring this account invalid on a motion for summary judgment:

The central issue raised by this appeal is whether a final summary judgment may be entered in favor of a party on a cause of action not pled in the complaint. We hold that such a **summary** judgment can never be so rendered and reverse.

. . . .

...It is axiomatic that **a** party is never entitled to summary judgment based on **a** cause of action not pled in the complaint, ...

Kuehne & Nagel, Inc. v. Lewis Marine Supply, Inc., 365 So.2d 204, 204-05 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1978). Accord, Meigs v. Lear, 191 So.2d 286 (Fla. 1st DCA 1966). This is but a specific application of the more general, thoroughly settled rule that, absent consent, a judgment can never be entered upon an unpled claim. See, e. g., Arky, Freed, Stearns, Watson, Greer, Weaver & Harris v. Bowmar Instrument Carp., 537 So.2d 561 (Fla. 1988).

Although Rule **1.510**, Fla. R. Civ. P. (the summary judgment rule) does not contain a provision comparable to Rule 1.190(b), Fla. R. Civ. P. •• which automatically amends the pleadings to include claims "tried by express or implied consent of the parties" •• we deem it prudent to demonstrate as well that Mr. Alter's counsel did nothing below which could be construed as "consent" to having this unpled claim adjudicated against his client. In the first place, the motion for summary judgment did not expressly seek a declaration of invalidity of the 1st Nationwide account; all that it said was this (R. 263-64):

3. Similarly, 1st Nationwide Bank advised us that its account related to this case was established pursuant to the same trust agreement. The Bank also advised us that the account was definitely <u>not</u> a Totten trust, contrary to the Respondent's argument at the first summary judgment hearing. The Bank's

⁸ In addition, see Baring Industries, Inc. v. Rayglo, Inc., 303 So.2d 625 (Fla. 1974); Cortina v. Cortina, 98 So.2d 334 (Fla. 1957); Designer's Tile International Corp. v. Capitol C Corp., 499 So.2d 4 (Fla. 3rd DCA), review denied, 508 So.2d 13 (Fla. 1987); Wassil v. Gilmour, 465 So.2d 566 (Ha. 3rd DCA 1985); Hernandez v. Hernandez, 444 So.2d 35 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1983), review denied, 451 So.2d 848 (Fla. 1984); Dysart v. Hunt, 383 So.2d 259 (Fla. 3rd DCA), review denied, 392 So.2d 1373 (Fla. 1980).

Affidavit and correspondence related to this matter are attached **as** Exhibit E.

Since the "Respondent's argument at the first summary judgment hearing" was directed solely to the validity of the Norstar account, and the 1st Nationwide account was never mentioned in that hearing, this paragraph of the motion for summary judgment appears to assert only additional support for the claimed invalidity of the Norstar account.

When the subject came up at the hearing on the motion, Mr. Alter's counsel objected, stating that "I don't understand -- we're talking about an account at North Star [sic]. What's the purpose of this affidavit?" (SR. 33). He was assured in response that the affidavit was relevant only to the account at "North Star [sic], and we're talking about the nature of the trust," and he withdrew his objection as a result (SR. 33-34). In addition, at no point during the hearing did counsel for the residuary beneficiaries ever directly request the trial court to adjudicate the validity of the 1st Nationwide account. In view of these facts, it simply cannot be argued that Mr. Alter "consented" to adjudication of that unpled claim. If *Kuehne & Nagel*, supra, is to be followed here, as it should be, this aspect of the summary final judgment was properly reversed by the district court.

2. The absence of the trust agreement from the record.

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